
. . . j l ... coo 

So , wha,~ k i nd of a backgr ound do you have? 

R: Do you mean pol i t icelly or in general? 
~y par ents were , I sup ose one would call them 

petty borgeousie , end my father wcs at , first a sort 
of menuf?ctureer ' s representati~e , a sort of s~les 
person , end my mother stayed at ho~e at fir~t , but 
then et the age of forty , she went and did P ~oci~l 
science degree ~nd f r oM then onw8rds WEs a profescion-
al - we l l hed various profession~l job~ . . 

I t was a feit l y liber~l b"ckground in the sense 
thot they were fovnder members of the Progressive 
Party. 

I wa~ myself a member of the ~rogressive8 , the 
Y ung Progressives until about 196L , qnd at thrt 
time I st~rted to believe in univers~l suffraee 
2nd it w~c. cnnvenient t"h,nt I ,:rot elected to the 
Nusas executive and they s~id you shouldn ' t belong 
to any politic"l p[rty end on that pretext I resi~ned 
from the ~rocc. . . 

I ccn •t remember Jf there w~s ~ctu~lly a 
libercl perty then . It had been brmned , vJell not 
b~n~ed , but the leeistation prohibition of improper 
interference le6is lation m8de it difficult for 
them to continue to oper~~te • 

.lmd so I W8S driftinc; aw'"'y frotr Proe; type 
liber~lism - I remain.ed ::: Prog for a long time. 
fl.nd my family wef' begin"li g to think whot else? 

Although my f ... rr:·ily were li berols they were 
alw~ye positively disnosed tOV''"rds -people in the 
Coneress rll'ovement , like ..,1 though my f'"'ther died , I ' m 
~ure th·t if he had been ~live whe~ I wcs crreeted 

he '1-Vould h'"'Ve been very proud of v·hat I'd done. 
He <:'dmired Bra"'m Fisc':lCr very r'Uch; al thout:;h 

he wrs very ~~ti-communist I think. !nd my mother 
elso ..,dmired people li'e th~t , Nelson Iandela, 
simil3r people in the Congre~s Wovement. 

So I came from a hoi!le which although it wes 
liberal - it wo~n•t anti-liber8tion movement - a~d 
my conceptualism of liberalism haa noth ne to do 
with ca:pit"lism m1d socialismT the. mistake th?t 
people me.ke vvhen they identify capitali sm with 

liberalism . My idea of liberalism when I waco little ; 
was that it wrs a useful vehicle for anti-apartheid 
activities. It ' s the only form of a~ti-anartheid 
?ctivi ties which I knew. And in f"'ct \"hen I was· a 
f?tudent , c>nd all these people ;i oined ~frican Resist­
~ce ~ovement , the white Sabotage group , I could cui~ 
easily h"'ve been drawn into something like th"t or 
into ANC a ctivities - th!""t •s in 1964 - just because 
I didn ' t see a substantial difference in mJj6rientation 
and what these neonle had undertaken . 

• •• / 2 •• 034 



' •.. / 2 • . 034 R. Suttner 

Rcont! I v ery much admired Nelson Uandela's speech 
from the dock and Brahm ' s speech in the doc~ . But 
I was still liberal . But I didn ' t understand all 
the implications of the policy behind the org2nis­
ation . 

Do you want to know 8nything more about my 
family? 

_ :lhat generctjon of South Africen c:ore you? 

R: I'm not sure - I think my er[ndparents emigrated m 
South Africa , from Lithuonia on my father's side and 

from London my mother's side . I think the gr2ndfather 
on n1y mother's side might have )Jeen even further b<?ck. 

But I'm not sure . I ' m not very into family tre~s . 
I ' rr. rela ted to Bertha von Suttner , the Nobel 
Pri ze winner, but I use th8t merely when I clnim 
sometimes th:--t I'm f'lctuelly a baron you know , "'nd 
I don't use the title . So I a ctually use it for that 
sort of purpose not to i.nvestig·•te . 

r: 1\rl.d, you kind of' made th~ t jump where you s,·......,nrted 
univer ql suff~Qce . I'm interested you knO\' •• • 

R: It was an intellectual jump in a sense . I 
was alwpys morolly ou osed to apertheid . ry p8rents 
inculcated in me a·belief in unselfish ness and a 
concern with other people end th2t you shouldn't 
actually particip"'te in act ivities which could b~ 
hurtful to others , 2nd so t here was a very strong 

emphasis on honesty . 
And on the one h'?:lld I couldn ' t stick by 

the belief • . . interuption. 

r : You • .. • i s there any kind of incident thqt you 
remember in terms of that moved you no!titiCPlly 
or th t yo ~ remember when you firs t heard of the 
imnli cations of r~cism that y ou were involved 
with? 

R: I hadn ' t really heard of Mandela, but in 1961 or 
b2, I used to catch the bus at the Parade , and I 
used to see these notices up there from the 
r inister of Justice s<:>ying any meeting in respect 

of Nelson ~ardeal blah blah, I don ' t remember the 
re~t of he story , but I8d see these notices , so it 
was a name thet fir,ured in my consciousness . 

But I don • t think I was a.ctually v ery well 
aware of it until the Rivonai triql to be frank . 
I knew of Ldthul t , but I didn ' t read any ANC l i , t ­
erature or comr uni~ t party literature until much 
later. 

The first thing I ever read wB s Nelson Man­
dela ' s first speech in the dock in ' 62 , the first 
t rial and then later the sa.me year , which is about 
' 63 or 64, I read his second sneech f r om t he dock . 

It was a very emotional resnonse th ' t I had . 
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Rcont : It wasn ' t prt of a co~sidered understanding. 
I t receded into the be.ckground and i didn ' t see any 
contradictions between tha.t and a:Ctivi ties in Nusas , 
well I.don ' t think there is any contradiction , but 
for ye2rs I WE<"" very active in li'tllera.l activities in 
Nusa!?, and so fortbl=md I d±dn •t take a sten away from 
that • I didn ' t actually have the op ortunity . 

The op ortunity might have been before these 
guys got arrested in '64 , sometime l<?ter someone told 

me th! t they h<?d actually wanted to recruit me far 
so~ething or other and then they got hauled in. 
I ' m glRd ~ w<?sn •t , but I wouldn ' t have been eaui~­
ped to h<?ndle it mt that st2Ge . I was young and 
inex erienced and undeveloped politically. 

So , the break from being aliberal C8me very 
much lEJter and I ' m very , I tend to do thi "'gs in 
Dn intellectual wc:y , and what happened - do you 

want me to go onto thet ?- Hmmm-
I had to give a talk once on the future of lib­

er a lism at a symposium and I remember Ryfie Kaplinsky (?) 
I don ' t know if you know him? He's now a Sussex 
l ecturerer • • . he once led a sit in at UCT in ' 58 , 
auite a lot younger th<?n me . Anyvay , when I was 
going to give this l~ture , he gave me something 
to reed by C Wright Thills , an American sociologist , 
and basicelly the conseouence of readine this , I came 
to the conclusion that liberaliPm w<?s irrelevPnt , 
but I didn ' t actually t oke the next step. 

So I ge.ve e very pessimistic input at this thing 
whic• I think wGc correct and i~correct also because 
it doesn't take things furt~er . I '63 or so , and 
I didn ' t do very much else until tRe end of ' 69 . I 
W8S a very ambitiou~ ecademic at this stage - I was 
ouite an ambitious bloke . And when I left SRCs end 
all that , I then went i~to ecademic life end st~rted 
to produce at e furious p~ce orticles ~d whrt have 
you and at a certain point , I was e;iven 8 sort of 
bre2thine; sp2ce which made Me think on the life - was 
leading a..~d which also made me return to politic 1 
thingf' and what happened w;:s I w,.,r: doing 8 m...,sters 
of Law thesif', ·md when I wes !"!bout to mnd it in. 
they Q~id to me Y•u 're auoting J ack SiMonf:' and Jc:c~ 
Simons is listed t1ereiore it 's illeg~l ond ther fore 
you must cut him out • •• I was a liber~l still you se 
A liber~l who felt th2t you cnn't auote someone 
else ' s work ~~ youx o~n - a sense of property you kno~ , 

someone elses , 1 cen't pass it off as my o'lhn con·odity . 
So, I S'"lid well , I'll Viithdrov' the theciQ . I 

wns still in a li'tllerrl freme of mind . I was ...,ctually 
.. quite a sort of liberrl in thor-e df'ys. 

Jack s; ,..,ons s<>id he tho1..' '"'"1--tt ~ w"s m~d ond I just 
should h2v lifted his stuff . And, after doing th~t, 
I actually strrted to thiny ...,~out o vpriety things 
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Peon+· a variety of things in my life. Why was I 
just responding to things in this way ••• Oh, as it 
happened someone gave me a book to read, an intoo­
duction to Marxism and it made me think about myself, 
as a person who was responging to the ethos of cap­
italist society in this way, becoming such an extreme 

form of it, the way I was so competitive - driving 
myself ~o produce and all this sort of thing, as if 
I was such a hot shot, and why did I all the time 

have to keep on proving it and this alsm made me think 
politically again. 

And this work on Marxism really opened my eyes 
and ~ was very shocked. : I actually had read the hook 
not because I wanted to read the book not for politic-
al reasons but because l was a bit intellectually 

arrogant, and for someone as intellectually arrogant 
as myself, I thought I should read Marx, just as I 
should read Fabe(?) or anyone else, and all that 
sort of thing. 

So, I read this thing and it stunned me. All 
this business about what I had understood as a const­
itutuignal battle in the seventeenth centurey, they 
explained completely differently, and here I was 
taking all these years. 

And then I started to~hink - this whole thing 
rocked my life in general. I was about to go and s 
study over in Oxford, but I made up my mind how to 
act politically. And 1 was~hinking about isolated 
political acts like the ~had done in the sixties. 
And ~ wasn•t ~ite sure what to do~ but when I 
went overseas, although I was s~pposed to go and 
do a doctorate, already before + left I was orient­
ating myself back to a political frame of mind 
and also defineitely towards illegal activities. 

I didn •t think directly of ANC or Communist 
Party, but I wasn't unfavourably disposed towards 
them. 

And something I must mention about that. Now­
adays you see an ANC newspaper every day, but in 
those days, I'm not sure to what extent it esist-
ed, cos they'd very successfully wiped it out of 
the newspapers, and if they mentioned either, they'd 
mention the Commuhist Party, because they tried to 
imply that the ANC was just a front for the CP and 
stuff like this. 

So, I wasn't actually sure ~w much the ANJ 
and the CP existed. And so I went overseas, and I 
contacted some people and I don't know how 
seriously they ttok me, because I suppose a lot of 
people come over here and say Loo~ I want to get in­
volved and all that, and they say well there's time, 
i'm going to Oxford and all that. And I kept on 
n agging and nagging and I went to Oxford and I vas 
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Rconti was ~etting so fed upr. 
First was supposed to do a doctorate, and 

they are such pains in the arses - sorry this is 
becoming lenguage - they are, really impossible 

man 
un-

people. 
~ was going to !o a thesis on civil dis­

obedience; and the guy they ~ive me as a super­
visor, a chap called Dorking{?) , very famous, and 
all that. But he, regarded civil disobedience as a 
question of Do you have to prosecute draft resistors? 
That's just one minor aspect of the problem and I had 
this guy as a supervisor and it was just messed up 
from the beginning. 

So I changed to something else, _and such a 
waste of time. Next I have these books ~ want to 
read, and I had to read this crap you see. So, 
I went to London and saw one of these blokes, and 
he said to me, because I wanted to leave, I wanted 
to get out there, so he said to me that I~ you 
want advice, you go to the person that ~aves y ou 
the advice you want to hear. And he agreed with 
me that I should leave. 

my scholarship 
African Studies, 
and Customary 
that I'd with-

So I then went and transferred 
to SOAS, the School of Oriental and 
I'd previously done work on African 
law, that was what my thesis was on 
drawn you see. 

But I didn't really last very long therer, 
I basically started to use the library and nothing 
else. And, nagged them even more to recruit me for 
something or other. 

Eventually, I don't know how long it too~, 
I was introduced to people who were quite seriously 
considering involving me, end then I was taken 
through various political tre.cts and so forth and 
I was very critical, well not critical, but I 
argued like mad, particularly about things like 
the alliance of the Soviet Union, and the cause, 
and action of the Warsaw Pact countries in C·e~k­
oslavia, and all these sorts of things . 

Because, I still believed you must go/into 
something mf you're not completely sure that it's 
correct. Obviously I'd r~. ad a lot , because I knew 
that if I were detained, I'd be drawing it up(?) so 
I read a lot on those things and became sure that I 
could handle it • 

.Anyway, after a long time, and a lot ofhthese 
people arqan older generation , who don't know the 
sort of debates that people like myself have been gaii­
ng through, like I came to Marxism through New Left 

Review, Monthly Review , these sorts of things which 
are mainly anti- Soviet things and they regard the 
South African Communist Party and the Afri can 1'lati­
ional Congress, with somehhing like contempt , as less­
er organisations who don't quit e understand the 
nature of class struggle and all that . 

When I put these sorts of ~guments to these 
blokes, they didn't know what I was talking about , am 
there was a big sort of generation gap - I mean some 
~f t~se people like Jow Slov~ are really brilliant , 
ut eyhaven't really encowatered some of these 
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Rcont: some of these arguments . I think they ~o 
deal with t hese arguments , but they're - it's not 

an argument they•re dealing with tn their daily 
theoretical work. 

One or two of the guys I was in contact with , 
had studied at LSE and so forth, so they knew the 
Robing Blaackburns and intellectual left types . 

Anyway, I was ev entually recruited to doing 
v arious things and they set about a process of trein­
ing me , mainly i ' production of propaganda; How to 
send off pamphlet bqmbs - I never actually did it 
in South Africa , they wouldn 't let me do it for 
various r easons , my being the one person who had 
been recruited, and they didn 't want to risk me . 

But you know, it ' s send this up in the 
air , and this is the ANC speaking and it ' s ouite 
spectacularo \le used to do this in Hampstead , 
in this flat I was in that I nearly set alight , 
and they used to sometimes do it on Hampstead Heath, 
and nearly get arrested . 

Anyway , I went through that . And they t aught oo 
me v arious thing~ regarding surveillence and counter­
surveillance and in court cases you try and down­
gr?de t he nature of the training you receive, but 
it W8.S actually aui te useful and effective , but 
what hap ena when you 're doing it, for so long they 
don 't watch you , that when ~hey do start watching you , 
you have forgotten to pr a ctice the things th8t you 
have to write it into your da ily living. 

But I was still a very oo:ring .. intellectu2l 
type , and I gave these guys such a hard time . I dont 
know how long this course was supnosed to last , but 
it lasted about four t tmes as long, because any 
theoretical problem I had , we had to go through, 
and I wasn ' t so keen to learn how to set up these 
pamphlet bombs nnd - I can 't remember , they taught 
me a lot of other thin5s 'whmch I was really useless 
at doing - ways of settinf down banners and then you 
melt wax and they gave me numerous refresher courses 
8nd l wcsn ' t very ggood a t thct , but I would still 

go through the numerous theoretical problems . 
Ranging from the war to communist attitudes to sex yo 
know. Every aspect of the problems - we would 
welk around Hampstead Heath , and these guys would 
be given a re ~lly hard time , because ~ wanted to be 
absolutely sure of everything . 

Then that's the period in London. Do you 
want it more on the per~onal side , or do you want 
me to eo politic~lfy? B8ck to South Africa? 

_Q : No , tell me a.bout this p3.rt - it ' s interesting. 

R: Well , you see , I don 't know if you read the book 
c alled the Gadfly and there ' s a Soviet novel cnlled 
How the Steel was Tempered . 
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Rcont : Now in this book , How t he Steel was Te1 pered , 
this bloke · models himself on t he guy from this 
book the Gadfly who· leads a r eally puriten i c al 
life and he t hinks t his is whet a revolutio~8ry i s . 

I was a bit l ike t hat , you s ee: I t hou ght 
I had t o pr ov e t o myself t hat I could pract ice self­
deni~l . The conseauenc e was Oh , vhat I loEt out on: 
S o ci~lly and culturally in London - 'every play I 
must have missed , well fo r about e. yerr ; 

I n a sense it wr~s usef ul f or me , nart of 
getting rid of t hese bour~eois trrits , ~~~ to 
ectually a ) break a pattern of tryinc; e ll the time to 
ec~ieve , 2chiev e , but also to check that I could 
actually handle priv2tion . I t was e very good tr~;n­
ing for prison actu~lly , because prison was fine , I 
v;as u-ed to prison by t • ..,en. And cert2in thingA of 
deni~l . 

It ' ~ ~ bit artifi cu~l I think , but for my 
particular c~se it w~c ne cessary . 

Anyw::y , they W2...'Ylted me to go to South 
Africa. Luckily , I 'l2S of-fered ~ job in Durb~ in 
African Government a d L~, , ~d they wanted me to 
go there and produce liter·ture th~t they sent me : 
.ANC 3l1d Communist PPrty stuff . IJoter I wof' doing 
sor,f'thing else myself . But o.nyway , from 1971 to 
1974, thot ' s wh~t tley Wr'nted me to do . 

Now they wanted me to e;o therr first . And it 
was nice goinc to Durban,. because no- one knew me there , 
there wasn ' t a problem about my pereona. If I' d 
gone beck to ~wn. I ' d be r g~rded ~c a politiccl 
person 2nd tll th~t sort of f'tuff , because it would 
have been h2rd to hide the f~ct th~t 1 wos nov -
to suddenly descend into anonimity be c!1use in 
Durban hardly ~nyone knew me . 

. I just pleyed the r""'me of the .-.c~demic who 
W!" very interef'ted in music ::md stuff li~e th!'lt -
in J une ' 71 I wen~ back ~or 18 months - onyw·y , 
I \ ent t'-~ ere !<.nd I used. to try <>nd t 1 to pc>o""le 
but not ::;;JOli~ic· lly directly bec"'U""e I didn ' t wrillt 
to have ~ hich profile - I steered cle~r of wcge~ 
connissions ond Nus~c . I t wos very difficult at 
times bec8use on the one h!'lnd the potential recruit~ 
v·onld be peo le who werE? involved in t·~ese f'orts 
of th~"'._"' • On the ot1er hrmd, once· you c;et t:r.['t ~-ort 
of profile, the nolice st rted p~y~ne Pttention to 
you. 

I only once spo' e on ~ politicpl nl~tform . 
I' d "f' red 'l'o'Y1V r~[lthev•s to .rrive [' ta.lk 011 t'~e 

~ v 

Terrorism ~ct ; nnd he ju<"t coulcln ' t do j+ . It w"'s 
very tecr~icpl , but I never ever dj l ~~y+ri~g 

noli tical . 
A..'Yl:rw~y, w..,c. ~ lecturerC' in comn"r,ti ve "..fric"n 

Governme~+ , ~ec,u~e I v~~n ' t nre~~red ~ , venin 
~c-demic li~e , even thouph I wns ~ libe~, I do 
oeli eve I rJl...,yed !'l proe;res"'i ve role Pnd li "te I 
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Rcont: ~nd Jj 1re T nut nero ~ ~ ~oeit~on . But I h~d 
to try ~nd do ;~ in n very se m~nely cynicnl wny 
you 1mow I v ottlu tc?r v rj ous re!"1ction<Jry v-ri ter to 
pieces. I would pose ouer-t_ions , but I never crune 
out in a r arxist posi tio or 2nyth-i nc; like thi • I ' d 
p['ve the w~~r for ot"'1ers , which I honed the students 
would do . 

Especially for Afric!:"l , I w:::sn ' t prcporcd to snend 
my time s:::yiYlg th~t Afric~ ' s n whole rress ond all th'"'. 
So, . I thtut(1t t her wr-. co >~ce in act ually tc~chine 
African Covernment to i v e ~ progressiv e position , 
but not h2.ir r .,isingly so . Jl..nd the students were 
so ignor[mt in "Durban , th~t they \Vouldn ' t 'lick up 
wh:::t WflE a nroer essive -posi t rlwn - they just didn ' t 
know much a bot t the stuff . 

In th2t period , I w~s told th8 t I musn ' t prod­
uce stuf f until I'm sure th~t I wps cleor , but bef' ore 

I had a chance to do ::mythinG, they kill ed Ti17'0l , 
and w1 e11. I saw the inaue: t , •. • you lmow t he no1 ice 
threw 11.ir out of - welJ r .-.llecedly j UI!lped out of 
the window - so when Ti,..,o l ' s inouest w..,f' on I saw 
that he had been doing \ ..,t I had been doi-ng . So 
i t W8S cuite brutally ~~d stcrkly t he ~ind of 
thine I would h..,v e t o f~ce in t he future . I r e-
member I got P circul~r , we used t o c orr~uni c~t e with , 
the~e undergr ound invi~ ible i nk type letter s , - I 
eot a circular whi ch mus t hav e gone to quite ~ few 
people in thi s activity seying hide all your machi n 
bl~h, bl ah , bl ah . 

The t hing i s I W8Sn 't actuall~.r using them, at 
t hPt s t are . And I t hought to myself , has my s tuff 
been intercepted and ar e the police nov~oing to 
trap me? 

Now we h ad s ome other form of code t o ch eck 
t hat out , but it took quite along time to find the 
answer to it . 

Also becau s e at a cert ain noint around t ha.t 
time if~ r ecall corredtly , I had~ some romantic rel­
ationship on the go and it was very hard to go and 

develop the s e letters you see . This pers on se emed 
alway s to be around i n my fl at. 

So t h ere wes a break down i n communications 
before I even got going . Anyway it was t he letter , 
but t h ey ' d made the error of not indivmdualising it 
and s o I got scer ed for n othing. 

Anyway, I firs t got s omething out i n Jul y 
' 73, t wo t hings during the v e cation. Copies of 
Inkululeth o, and the next thing 1 was doing was a 
s peech at Dr , Dad~' s and I r emember I w~s busy d oing 
it and my f a t her died . Vfuile I ' m busy doing this 
and it was very difficult to attache adeauate sig­
nificance to that while I ' m busy producing communist 
party leaflet . 

I did atta ch significance but I firs t ~~d to 
go through all t he motions of putt i ng all my· stuff 
a.wa.y securely and all this sort of thing. But , 
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Rcont: But , you lmov· , ueoT)le don ' t rea.liC'e that when 
you ' re with the underground , you ' ve got two lives 
operating simultaneously all the time and it 1 s very 
difficult to not act i nsensitively to the other 
aspect . 

I remember people saying that only when I 
was arrested did they underst~d thinEs about the 
way I behaved which is very difficujf. In per sonal 
relationships I felt I couldn ' t form a very close 
relations:ijip with someone , because I wolJldn ' t be 
able to t alk about the most intim8te p?.rts of my 
life or whBt was most serious to me . And how 
would someone like that if the first they he2rd 
about that , when you're in love is that you ' re 
involved in this kind of thing. And I felt this 
would be very unfair . And there was ouite a barrier 
in relationships . 

And it meant that y ou had to apnerr that 
you were auite a sell- out and it 1 s quite difficult to 
do that . Unpleasant . 

Anywey , I didn ' t produce very much vefore 
December 1974 , when I was invited to a conference 
in Holland. And the Government paid for me to go 
to this C0 '1fer . nee , the HSRC , and I met with various 
people like Jow Slovo- over there and we eva.luated 
what I had been doing . And ouite a lot of criticism 
of what I had been doing. Not heavy criticism, 
but just aasicr:illy suggesting to me that I wss a bit 
of a fool you lmow. The way I used to go and do some 
of these things was reslly cre7y . 

Posting , I used to t ake a whole sui tcF~.se and 
then dump the whole lot into one post box if I coul~ 
find one big enough. And they said to me you are 
silly , they ' re going to intercept these thirgs 
in one go that way . You must do fifty here and 
fifty there . 

And t is stupidity was partly as a result of 
working on my ovm . I didn •t really have someone to 
advise me on certain things . md anywr.>y they also 
criticised my attitude to recruiting. Previuusly , 
they snid I musn ' t recruit anyone . And which was 
correct . 

But after the Portuguese revolution , we all 
felt this w s going to dee a spurt forwa.rd in the 
struggle to free Southern Afric~ in gener 8l , w~ich 
proved to be c orrect . And their attitudes to\ards 
recruitment becsme correspondi ngly more generoua in 
the sense that it wss felt that we must now think 
of drr.>wing in those people . 

And when I wo.s tBlking about peonle I lmew, 
I mentioned this guy ~~i? ) , who ultimately became 
a state witness . And I just mentioned what I thought 
of the guy and I was given criticism from the level 
of his ideologicql understandin~ , and the criticised 
me say ing t hat I must ' t look at myself FIS a sort of 
typical recruit . If someone like myself , if they only 
recruited neople like myself , they would h2ve he.d 
no-one in the liber~tion movement , beceuse mott peop~ 
weren ' t intellectuals . And they took that criticism 
and went overboBrd to the opnosite extremes . And 
I came to the conclusion I should recruit this guy 
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Rcont: recruit this guy when I came back. 
Anyway, it p roved ultimately to be ~n error . 

But in the meentime , I recruited a Zulu lecturer 
called Jenny Roxborrough , who wa s very dedicated in 
a personal sense , in that she was friendly with me 
and all thet . 

l didn ' t really have a lot of time to nolitic­
i s e them properly in the way I had been , very long 
period of tr2 ining , so that only eight months or so 
before ~ was arrested , from September to June, 
'75. 

And , one of the effects of recruiting them , 
was we produced much more . Bec~use for three , eonle 
to nroduce something it is much ouicker . I also 
wrote some~hing myself C8lled ~u8?ni and I intended 
this to be co~ment on the spo~ on various thin gs , 
events we were able to intervene. 

What wa s quite useful is that we intervened 
in rega rd the talk of dialogue between African States 
in South Afric8 , and we brought out something -
No Dialogue with A~artheid , Ta les Abroad , Fascism at 
Home , all sorts of stuff , but they used it at the 
OAU , so it was quite useful that they could say 
people inside were making all these kinds of inter­
ventions. 

~e used to send stuff to the movement over­
se8s . Anyway , we produced a lot of stuff in the 
months before I wa s arrested . 

0: Just tell me , hov· did you go about recruiting them? 
How did you speF~ to the~? 

R: Well, I just sort of put abstr8Ct questions to 
them like 'Wha t h a pp ens , these d ays we 've got a 
situa tion where you might find someone knocks on 
your door , and he ' s being hunted by the police , 
en MK e~illa or something . tfuet would you do? ' 

Abstr~ctly, and then , I can ' t remember the rest . 
You see , the thing is someone like this Jenny Rox­
burg is a very hones t pers on . This other bloke 
apu ears to be honest and auite conrnitted without 
s eying anything . Didn't seem a big step for him to 
take , but I think he took it romantice lly . 

In her ce.se , I don ' t th ~nk whe realised the 
full consecuences of , well both of them didn't 
re'"".lic::e the full conseouences of it . In his case 
it W8S a. bit rom::mtic for him. He didn ' t unders t e nd 
thEt it was a lpsting permanent thi~g . IN her case 
it wo ld h a ve teJren time to deepen that . involvement. 

So , I can't remember the details of how I 
raised it . I think in h i s C"' Se he was a sking wha t 
he should do . I wa s f a irly friendly with him. I 
was friendly with her as well, but it hadn't been a 
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Rcont: hadn ' t been a politicel one . But it wes a 
very sort of close rela ·o~ship in the sense that 
she used to t~lk to me a lot about problems and 
stuff like this . 

~o , there wes a degree of trust in our 
rel~tionship elready . Building on a personal rel­
ationship ra.ther them e political intervention, a 
politicel state of recruiting. 

I used to test out other people , one or t~ 
other people , who I had -poli tica.l discussi ons w1 th 
but I felt would be unsuitable . 

Q: So , what would have been unsuitable? 

R: Well , you heve to be sure people are goine to 1~ 
keep quiet about this . Because , it's like Kun~ ­
he did once want to walk out on this business which 
is really risking me completely. And yo C"'n ' t have 
thct sort of thing. 

If someone is going to be flighty about it, 
and not realise what is ent.,iled, th.,t ' s nu.ite "' 
nroblem. A lot of Jeo le are intellectually involved 
and they know a lot more than I do about theoretical 
things, but they actually hav.en•t got a moral 
commi ttment·. And .l think it' s a combination of t1J.e 
moral and theoretical that one looks for. And it s 
very difficult to assess . I still don't know what 
makes womeone morally committed~ Cos a lot of people, 
especially now, are very involved and they get 
positive reinforcement all the time for it. 

And when you're working underground you don't 
get positive reinforcement for tt, so you've got to 

be really committed to start off with. It's very 
hard to tell this before the person actually got 
involved, how they would react to the stresses , 

Something I found, I wasn't actually that scared 
when I was on my own. But this guy Kun~ was very 
scared and I got scared and he used to make me Very 
nervous . 

You know, they once had a report, Police 
Hunt City Printe~ now I was - sorry at the same time 
I should mention - at the same time our r~oneo 
machine had broken down and I had taken it in to 
be fixed. So , what ~ do in these instances , is I 
put on sunglasses, put on a suit and all this sort 
of stuff and I proceed to take the r~oneo machine 
down. But I have to use his car , because it was a 
fancier car ~n mine. And he was absolutely pet­
rified by this . 

Now the result of this was that I started to 
think of my activities . This guy had actually writ­
ten a book on this affair. But I've got some here . 
It's not published . 

He remarks how he once went posting somewhere 
and stopped at a post box t there's a policeman there 
- I st1ll get out and posv . 

• •• '12 ••• 450 
') 



••. /12 • •• 450 1t Suttner. 

Rcont: if there's a policeman there, I still get out 
and post . Now the thing about it was, I was totally 
immersed in doing it ; I was aware this was a police.­
man but to not post would hav e been even worse in 
the situatmmn, whereas he was very much more aware 
of the consequences of being caught doi e this . 

Now, I got all jumpy in conseauence . You can~t 
tell how people are going to re[ct in those situations , 
until you do recruit them. Now I wes s cared , but 
I was acclimatised to it . 

Breek • •• 
Wow let me think what else there wes in that 

period . 

Q: What about , you weren ' t nervous and then you got 
them involved and started puttine stuff out and 
just the kind of gettine more nervous . Did you 
know they were onto you? 

R: No , I sort of sensed something, and was just 
intuitively - you know when you doing illegal activ­
ities you be come auite suspicious , I mean super­
stitious. 

I remember in prison, Dave Rabkin once said 
we wal round a little yard and there's a l adder , and 
I walked ro nd the ladder and he says why does J akob 
the boer wa.ll< under the Ladder , but Suttner the 
Marxist walk round it agin? : 

You sort of hedge your bets a little bit wftth 
these sorts of things and I didn ' t feel, just in ca.se 
there were some areas of human existence th.-,t dialec­
tic materialimm doesn ' t account for , I will not 
tempt them by letting bleck cats cross my path or 
what have you. 

So , I did intuitively feel something was 
happening . I was under a lot of pressure . You 
know it • s like the South Africr-m Defence l!'orce , 
When they have a huge intake they don ' t actually 
have the structure to handle it nro~erly , Hence , 
all sorts of things were going wrong a few ye~rs back. 
In the army . And I think it was bec2use of some­
thing like that. 

It' s the s ame wi th the democratic movement . 
We have mobilised thousands of millions of peo~le , 
but we ~aven •t actu2lly organisationelly de~eloped 
to thet level . 

Nov , in my own case - suddenly I was producing 
thousands of pamphlets and whot have you and I 
wasn ' t actually thinking it out cle8rly. I was . 
making errors and I didn't have senior people around 
me to advise me as to hov to handle things and we 
were going to meet around anly , but I was nabbed in 
June . 

S: Where were you eoing to meet? 
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R: Swaziland or somewhere like that you know . 
lt was quite difficult keepmne; two personae . 

Being legal a ... '1d illegal . Just how to keep an aca­
demic job , do fairly progressive things and al~o 
do this at the seme time . 

Anyway , n was bringing out a special i~sue 
on the Freedom Ch~rter , in 1975 - twentieth ?nniver­
sary. ~~ wanted to get out ten thousand conies and 
we were do·ng that wPen I was caught . 

r : Before J une 25th? 

R: June 26th. And , • • do you w2nt to know the deteilf' 
o f why I was caught and all thC~t? I meen it ' s not 
m2dly interesting . 

Having made that prelude of how I didn ' t h~ve 
the assistance of other peonle in getting advice and 
thet it was the prelude to these errors which got me 
ceught . 

You see , it was problematic to get money in . 
So , I was paying for quite a lot of things out of my 
orvn money and the conseauence wes thBt when I went to 
get these thousands of envelopes , I t was very d i ff­
icult to bu y them . I mean ideelly you should get 
fifty here and fifty there . And it ' s incredibly 
expensive . 

And I found doing it through the university 
was anonymous . I could do it through the officials 
there and just get blenk envelopes at the uni­
versity store . 

AnywBy , I wanted ten thousand of a particular 
sir,e . It was auite a big issue of our thing and 
it wps okBy except that tr_ey only had three thou.send . 
They ordered Bnother seven thou~Pnd . And these en­
velones h~d quite a distinctive mark at the b~c~ . 

So the security police just went off to t~e 
factory and asked who'd ordered these. And they s~id 
the univer~ity. Pnd they then called the assistant 
at the plrce and they then ~ot me. 

When tney c~ught me , they just h~d the promf 
there right e.wo.y . So I 1mew it Waf' over then for 
me. So it wrs jus t a auestion of • ... 

0: You mean they held t~e a s sit2nt and the~ they got 
you? 

R: Yeah, the;y held him for twenty four hours.- Until 
they caught me . You see, T•d been posting in :Maritz­
burg and when I got bPck someone shouts ' Mr. Suttner?' 
Pnd I came out. with a sort of kosh - I don ' t 
know what I wanted to do vvi th it : Defend myself or 
whet • .• it was something I had bought - I just thought 
m?ybe I could defend myself should the occasion arise • 
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Rcont: But they didn 't know who they were getting. 
They had eight cars with five people in e~ch - t welve 
cars with a huge number of police . .And they all 
surrounded me and I put my thine down very quickly . 

And within a short while , they informed me 
that they knew all this inforrnrtion . The thing is 
they just didn ' t know who else wes involved in it , 
so this w~s the problem. 

And , do yon w2nt to know ['bout the interroe;at.:i. 
ion? ~/ell, they sort of senrched my house for ~bo t 
an hour or so . I was ~toying in those days in Queens­
borough jus t outside Durban . The~ took me to police 
heqdau<rterP , speci2l branch , in Fisher Street it ' s 
C"'lle d r-md they asked ouest ions end questions and th~y 
v.::mted to know who these other peo:ple were . 

I came out with all sorts of things li~e I 
really didn ' t know who the~ were . m used to co 
and ~eet someone in the middle of some park or so~e­
thint:. I didn ' t know who he or she wrs. !md they 
kept on Gnd on . 

My feeling W"S I \Voe t:oine; to be be,ten up or 
tortured so I wnnted to be tort•1red when I W""S strong 
r['ther thru1 vhen I W'"' v·eak. t;o '"' I ' d he!"1rd stories 
of how people h~dn ' t 8Qi6 a word for d2ys and then 
they collapsed and told everything. I didn't w2nt 
to be tortured when I was we~~k. I wanted to actually 
if they were going to do, do it ond Get it over 
with. 

So I s2id look here I'm not saying enything . 
I don't mean to be rude , but th~t's all I'm p,oin~ 
to say . ' But you are beine rude .• And t' ey ~ent on 
at me for R whiJe ~nd then at 2 certain p int , 
Colonel SteenkPmp , who • s now he8.d of the Special 
Branch, or t;omnisioner of Tolice , I con•t remember 
Vihich , about a ye8r ae.o , came in and twisted my 
nose you see . 

~: Was tha t the first time they'd been physical? 

R: Hmm. A few deys l eter I looked in t he mirror and 
there was blood on my nose . That was like a signal 
for the violence. He seid 'This is a very serious . • 
I didn't know who he was . And • • • (?591) 

A short while later , WarrMnt Officer Tayloe, who 
I believ e is a Captain now, c~me in wearing a 
butcher's uniform. And he blindfolded me and took 
my glesses off. I h~d like sunglasses and said now 
we are going to teoch you something . Took me away 
and handcuffed me , stripped me and then ~ut electrodes 
on my eenitals and on my fine;ers and my hands were 
swollen and my elbows were swollen for ouite a long 
time afte r tha t. He ke~t on puttin1 it on off , on off , 
on off , on off , wanted to know who was working 
with. 
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Rcont: And you gagged you sef . So you indic~te 
throueh the gags that yo~ want to tell them some­
thing. 

So I was telling them stuff about. overseas Bnd 
ell th~t sort of thing. And it ' s quite interesting . 
In snite of getting electric shocks you con actually 
think . There were some thirgs I actually w~nted to 
inform people of . 

For example , I wanted the peonle to know 
I had been held . No one knew I was held , so I 
needed others to escene . The rule is you escape 
when someone else is held . 

They didn ' t happen to escape , but they were 
infoJ_(r-ed of it and the one , the v.orren Roxborough 
drew out money , but she didn ' t push off . Anyway • • 

~: They were informed by other people? 

R: They were informed because they raided the uni­
v ersity . I hed stuff hidden at the university end 
I told the police this; 

Now , once you raid the university , everyone 
knows th<?t you ' ve been.arrested . Now these people 
could hrve go~e . But , there w~s also a d9nger . 
The longer , the more stuff they went through at the 
university , the more it might lead them to who the 
other people were . 

Side ends ••••• 633 
SIDE B: 000 

R: They were alre~dy ouestioning people about who 
1 knew end all th~t , so thet together vith certain 
other things might very well have led them to who 
I was working with . 

And I came to re?lise that they ITUSt have arrest­
these other tvo guys , after about two days when the 
questioning seemed to .change . 

I n the meontime , they did torture me some more 
Like - during these electric shocks I informed them 
of the university , so the whole of the next d~y , they 
were coming in to esk me mew thinfS after this raidl 

And I didn ' t sleep at all . They just carried o 
on interro£ating me the next day . They didn ' t tor­
ture me durine the dc:>y . The~ , whet napn ened was , 
at a.bout five or seven o'clock , one of these guys , 
a ch8p cc:>lled Coetzee , who ' s had half his err bitten 
off by some wrestler or so~e criminal , I don ' t know 
whe.t , tF~kes me off to Durbe-n Police Station and says 
look , you just go and ~eve a good nights sleep and 
tomorrow you can make a clean breast of it and you ' ll 
feel fine you know . He really felt good ebo~t that . 

So , I knew I wouldn ' t be left alone . About fi~ 
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Rcont : About five minutes of them eoing , you hear 
this guy sho.uting , ' Ons ga n jou vokking communis t, 
jou vokking dood ma.P'k.' 1/e 're going to kill th~t 
fucking communist and I ' m going to k~k him and this 
thot and the other . 

And you know cells make a helluva noise, so 
even the cell door is enough to meke you pretty 
scared without the shouting. 

. And they come bnnging crashing in t here and 
it's these young thues , sort of warrant officers 
level. 

And what they want to pretend is that they ' re 
doing thL~gs off their own . The officers know no­
thing abo t it . You see , when I was tortured the first 
time , I'm blindfolded so t1eoretically I crn•t ident­
ify anyone . 

Then the second tirre , it ' s now the young:3ters 
doine it without the knowledre of the others. lny­
w8y , it wasn ~ t so he2vy. Well it WES ouite he vy , 
st..,nding , u.nd in a crruc~ed pooition balancing wh2t 
they called my bibles Jiarx and Engels 2.lld Lenin on 
my arm outstretched end exercises and lyine on the 
t..,ble in unconfort~ble positions, pnd various sorts 
of demeaninc; sort's of acti vi tief' . This agPin vrent 
right throue;h the nie-ht if .L remember correctly. 

And the next morning the officers arrive , 
Did you h~ve 2 nice sleep? and 2ll this like sort of 
,erfectly happy ~~d what hnve you. And then they 
cqll me into Steenkamps office and he seys to me , 

Loo~ here , you are completely uncooper~tive . I ' ve 
got your diary here and I~m going to arrest the whole 
lot of them. 

Now, obviously, I ' m not such a moron that 
I ' m going to keep in my diary ~eople who I ' m working 
with . So I s~id just do thet , it ' s on your co science 
and you can cary on this tortu·e it' s still going 
to make no difference . And he liked looked shocked 
as if Vfuat am I talking about? end all that sort of 
stuff . 

So, anyway, as I s..,y, around the vilednesdey , 
after about two days , Obviously they ' d got these 
other people becruse the tone of the ouestioning 
ch8nged . And tt was a question of mop ing up op­
erations from then on . 

All alone they had enou~h to convict me . 
So they wanted to finish the c~se and I assumed we ' d 
all be charged, but these others were obviously 
mPrked out as being victimfl of this , m~ meferious 
activities , and they ended up using them ao strte 
witnesses , and me C~Prged . 

'here were a few sort of amusinc; instances 
in this situation. Like , they still t1ink there ' s 
more tha t I know, that I know about ueremy and David , 
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Rcont: Pnd David , who I 'd never met before . So they 
are still trying fo :find out about th2t . And they 
c~ll me into this guy Steenkamp ' s office , and he s~ys 
You. sit on the floor bec2use you are twenty ye2rs 
younger th~n me or something. Ana he srys stuff to 
me and gives me a long lecture . 

' J2n Smuts died before his time . Brahm Fisch~er 
W8S born before his time . ' P.nd all this sort of 
long h£rangue , q;nd then ' How wonld you like it if 
the · Arabs rpided Isr8el?' Implying that I must nec­
essarily be a Zionist or something ; 

.And then he S'ys , · ' If you don't tal .. ,. we 
will hQve to resort to KGB methods .~ P.nd I prfued , 
saying that you, have · alrea,dy used , if you r.1ean by thEt 
torture - I didn't want to argue with him and s~y it 
had alrendy been used . 

W.y attitude was I'm not t-oine; t.o ~"1k for · a 
hiding • .And then he s!"lys , 'Vat hom iilee ', ~ake him 
avmy . Pnd they just took me awa~r and ...1.. t:bink that 
was the end of the violence , and the next fe w wee.ks. 
of my detention, I w~s just , they were just mopning 
up on the c~ e . Ana then I was in court . 

~ : J ust before you go . on to that st~ce , how did you 
r eel? Wer~ you pretty pissed off thPt tloSe two hed 
not gone as they were sup osed to? 

R: You know , as I say , I felt - I ~ean I think it ' s 
c omt)letely wrong to be a State Witness , but in t heir 
case , you know they hadn ' t had a long time of involwe­
ment like myself . So I do feel th2t no- one shouid be . 
f' state witness , but I think I didn ' t feel very 
angry . I feel it ' s wrong for anyone to do it , not 
the particul[r individucl. 

In the particular indivtil.dual ' s case , it VJP8 

perhaps more mitigrting, if t here is mitig~tica, 
than if t here's someone who is sersoned ac~ivi~t , 
like Say Bayner(?) felt and gave evidence against 
Br~hm .l!'i£cher • . a.Jo , . I didn ' t feel particularly 
upset . 

I mean , at the same time if people said it , 
w~~ 0 .~ . I said no it ' s not o . k . I 9t because it w~s 
me , So , it didn ' t worry me perticularly . 

Q: It didn't make you feel bitter? 

R: No , you know, basic'ally it didn ' t make much diff­
e rence to my - I don ' t think I would h2ve got leos 
or more and I would h~ve felt differently if it w2s 
someone like .eremy who i-s a close friend of mine 
were to do so~ethin€· like this. I would be stunned . 
I just don ' t believe it is possible for ueremy to 
do something like th~t. But I don ' t rei~rd those 
people in tne s me lieht . ' 
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Rcont: They were not real comrades you know. I had to 
C!o the writing on rrry own. I couldn't really gain much 
from the~. Where~s when Jeremy worked he worked with 
David Rabkin and ~usan Rabkin and they very quickly 
were very sort of reliable people in themselves. And 
now I didn't have that. I didn't feel 'the same way • 

.9,: How long were you held before the trial? 

R: Five months, but not all of it w~s detention. 
of it was a waiting trial. 

Some 

.9.~ So when did you have th~ trial finally? 

R: It was November 13, 197~ 

~ : Let me just go back before you get into that, 
oecause I didn't ask you one thing about your re­
cruitment stage. You actually met Slov~. Was that 
-by 1985, he's been in the papers so much and the 
Sunday Times has pieces about it. At that stage, 
was he some kind of big figure to you? 

~: No, well I had read the stuff he'd written and I 
admired that veyy much and in so far as had dealt 
with him I had a lot of admiration for -well let•s 
put it this way, I don't want to comment about 
what he is doing at the moment, because that is some­
thing for him to decide on at the moment, because 
there are certain legal constra ints, if I were to 
approve it I would lay myself - let me say that in 
my dealings with him, I have a lot of admiration for 
what he. does, what he has done, and I ~dmired his 
understanding of various things. But was a very 
minor aspect of what he was doing presumably, ~eal­
ingr with me. What didn •t come through in the ·way 
he appears in the pres s, is that he's got a very good 
sense of humour. He's very funny. 

I remember, he used to come and see me and I 
stayed with some old woman who was one of these Christ­
ian Science people, Ron Hubbard's group and I was 
busy explaining ahe goes out, and she's here during 
the day, and goes out to work, so he says 'Yes, she 

. works for him' trying to imply that this woman is 
keeping me. He's a very funny guy and he was alweys 
mess ing around with jokes and so forth. I saw a side 
to him, which doesn't emerge in the picture of him 
as some sort of gorgon monster in the press. 

S: Does that also say something about the actual 
numbers of white aztivists in South Africa then? 
That someone as senior as him would be working with 
someone as unseasoned as you? 

~: I don't know, I wouldn 't like to say. I don't 
know what his status is, or cos I really don't know • 
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Q: Is that a commentary on the numbers of is that a 
commentary on the ••• 

R: There were very few people working , whatever his 
seniority or otherwise might have been, which I .don•t 
kriow . But , I think that there were very few people , 
I mean ANC and the Communist Party was not very active, 
cos Umkonto we Sizwe didn't have the military 
presence. In the country at the time , our prescence 
in these sort of propaganda things was virtually 
the only presence that there was in the country .at 
the time when this business set in. 

So , that is true in a sense. 

S: Because the other thing, I'm getting too involved 
in your story , that I want to bring out is the role 
of whites . Did you have any sense of the thing that 
there were blacks doing the same thing in the town­
ships? Who couldn ' t just walk into the university 
store and get envelopes? 

R: No , I think it was a job that was certainly much 
easier for a white to do - well certainly not for 
an African. Ti~l was a teacher so he had access 
to certain things. 

I mean it ·reauired skills. I knew how to 
type, so that was one less person ~ needed to recruit 
if I needed to get · someone else to type . I think 
TiMCl had to get someone to type if I remember 
correctly. , 

So I could type . I had access to yarious 
other things, like I had a car. So there were a 
v.ariety of reasons which made it much easier for 
whites to do that sort of work. 

Either a.lone or !JO~ntially in coll a,:-,cration 
with blacks, but ~ didn't meet blacks who I could 
potentially recruit. 

r: Did the~ people outside try to encourage you to 
recruit blacks? or did they fe el it was better to 
work with whites? 

R: They didn•t try and encourage me to recruit any­
one until that very late stage in my case . 

Q: And this identification with the Tint611 case was 
$ecause it happened righ~ when you were sort of~ • • 

!: But he was doing the same sort of things as me . 

S: I never knew that . 

R: It's quite stark . If you doing that kind of work 
the coding methods are very similar and all t hat , so 
you sort of get a foretaste of what ' s going to happen 

. 'to you. 
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Q: So, how do you sort of learn that? Cos I never knew 
anything about this case? 

~: Well,it's in the press and that. It was a very big 
case. ' He's one of the people who's one of the heros 
of the struggle and he's one of the people who people 
feel very upset about. He died in a period when there 
were very few things happening and peqple feel very 
affected by it. Still. He's still mentioned as one 
of the heros. In songs and poems. 

Q: I know he was a hero from being held in detention, 
~ut ~ never knew his case was that he was doing 
propaganda. 

R!" .u.e did this stuff when he was with Am.ina Desai~ 
and· Mohammed Esop. 

g: Because often it doesn't come out, because with 
other detainees who've died in detention you never 
knorN·. 

~: No, this is what he was doing. 

Q: So, can I just ask you a bit about that? So you 
remember opening the paper and thinking this really 
hits home or how did it happen? 

R: No, I looked at the pictures and when I read it I 
could see he was doing the same things as me.Just 
in case I had any doubts as to the treatment ! would 
get in detention, it was brought home gairly force­
fully. 

S: .And you didn't say to yourself bum .,. 42 at that 
stage or whatever blacks have died, but no white has 
ever died? 

~: No, ~thought I might well die . in detention. 

Q: Once you were detained? But when you read that in 
the paper when he died and there had n~ver been a 
white until Agget died in detention. Did you think 
to yourself, that's what happens to a ~lack, but it 
would never happe~ to a white? 

• R: No, I didn t think so. I thought it was a poss-
Ibility. I dfdn't actually think at the time, I 
was the first white to get electric shocks as far 
as I understend it. But not supprismngly, because 
I'd heard about it and I was psychologically pre­
pared for it. I don't know how I feel now, but 
then I was - I remember one person talking to me and 
say~ng, 
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Rcont: and saying you've got to get it into your he~ 
that you may die , but there's something bigger that 
continues and get yourself into that frame of mind. 

And i t •s a.t1 everdya matter for Africans to 
bQ tortured, to get electric s~ocks and all that . 
And in some situations I think it ' s better to die 
than to do some things so l hope I will continue 
to believe that . But I was fairly reconciled to 
that pessibility . I thought it was quite possible 
that they would kill me . But I mean that's a bit 
unrealistic and I wasn't such a big shot that they 
would have killed me . They make mistakes - you '~ 
know they keep the shocks on too long and all that. 

, i: : But I think there is a feelin One whites now , ~ mean 1especially before Agget , hat whC:tt they did 
to blacks they wouldn't do to whites . Did you feel 
that? 

R: No not really . No not really. They broke both 
Allen Brooks' legs - Allen Brooks is a friend of mine . 
So I knew that , and they beat up Stpphanie Kemp , so 
I knew they would beat me up . 

Als~ecause of my CP links - it's dif~erent 
with liberals. I mean Agget wasn't - I didn t know 
him we~l , but cert ainlw in my view he wasn • t~a member 
of anyJparticular orga11;isation. So th8 t in itself 
is unusual. 

, They tend to kill people who axe actually 
, linked to these organis8tions. 

Q: Let me just be a bit clinical so ± can understand 
it - how your case w s different . You would say that 
whites have been tortured before and beaten up 
before, but • •• 

R: Mainly Communist Party and ANC people • . 

C. : Because people have said to me you were treated ' 
worse than any white before you. 

R: That might be true . I'm trying to think - you 
know Allen Brooks had both his legs broken, so I 
can't ~eally say that to be electric shocked is worse . 

( : But that was a fact- do you think it was because 
they didn't give electric shocks before or just 
because they didn't do it to whites? 

R: No, they'd dmne electric shocks before, but they 
nadn't caught a C~ person for year.s . They didn't 

believe when I admitted that w~s the case. I 
mean they did believe it, but they were a bit stagger­
ed.Then they would ~o to the opposite ~xtreme and say 
I was Brahm Fischer s successor. .P.nd I s a id well I 
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Rcont : And !.said ' Well , I wish that were so, but 
1t ' s not the case .• And they accused me of writing 
some things which I hadn ' t written, and which were 
ghe official or~ans of the C~ and the ANC. 

were m~~a !i~dnot0g~ ~ifeas*~~~~1gfbihfia~at~rt~~~ 
put I don ' t write as well as that . • So they 
couldn ' t understand that I would Rdmit that proudly . 
And I think that - but they wanted urgently to find · 
these people before they skinned the country . That ' s 
why they tortured me . · 

Q: .And a~ 1 it was the fi.rst case - I · don •t know 
about Allen Brooks • • • 

R: He v~s in AEm , but he ' s a ctually also in other 
thinge . 

And that was way back in the sixties . 

R: In '64. 

Q: That was ten years . Was there anyone else in those 
ten years? 

(tlo..t ~ \:l.>rt.> 
R: HoJU and i'!i:=l: , I8:(il( ? ) were tortured a bit. ; can't 
remember the details, but they are quite funny, these 
security police. 

They like, he was sunburnt and they ' d t ake 
sandpaper you know r-nd go and rub the sunburn off and 
this sort of thing with Ho~ . 

Q: How is h~s name spelt? 

R~ Hosey - he's a British citi~en. He came out here 
to do this stuff here and then he was nabbeli r 

I don't know what else they did to him, ThElf 
didn't tortu±e him roue. you see . 

Pnd there are no other \~ites that I can re­
membe~ , since the ' 64 period wPot~ been tortured. 

Q: There weren't really people nicked up ; There 
w~sn 1 t much goipg on. 

R: There were people picked up. Well, the Dean of 
Johannesburg w2s tre8ted ~retty bedly . That w·s 
in '71 . He wasn't tortured , "Jut they degraded him . 
He was Frenchh Beytach(?) Mh.ey treated him b adly . 

C. : Is he around? 

R: I think he's overseas . And then t here was this 
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Rcont : .And then there was this guy Quinton Jacob­
son, who they ~ctually aauitted . It wrs around the 
time of ff~ He had something like the Anarchist ' s 
Cookbook or coo ethine . Jmd tf1ey tried to show that 
this wrs • • • 

Q: What 2bout if you were to talk about the trial it­
self? 

R: My tri81? 

g: Ye2h. So what exactly •• • it was five months after­
wards?. 

R: Yes , I was detained for something like ~9 d8ys . 
Tnen I was in Durban central prison while I v.as a­
W'"'iting tri<::~l . 

I thin1r it ' s quite interesting to lmow a 
little bit about the prison . Because , I don ' t kna , 
I had :m idea of wh8t detention would be like . 
However~terrible it ·wns , it was more or less 1wh8t I 
expected . 

Wherees I somehow felt Etwaiting trial would 
be great . Pnd going into n prison is dreadful . Just 
the whole - like the doors everything, eve~thing 
makes such a noise . This sort of ahettering sound . 
Every time they onened the key - these guys pride 
themselves , the youngsters in putting the keys in. 

I think it may be that there ' s like en 
eauivalent of a sexual connotation . Shove the key 
in and sort of pull it hard - sort of like rape 
almost . Bang, crash , you kno¥ it sounded like shat­
te~ing gl 9 cs every ti~e t cy o~ened . Your nerves 
are really on edge in those places . 

And they would make a noise right through 
the night . The first night I was there someone 
tried to slit his wrists and I thought 0 m~ God, 
is t his what happens every night in prison~ And I 
just felt terribly shaken . 

But I did get used to it . It was much 
better when we were convicted. I was for five months 

-there and basically it was quite interes ting. 
The white prisoners generally had a very· good 

attitude towards us political ones . Except one or 
two who shout abuse at things . On the whole there 
wa s quite a lot of respect . ~articularly amongst 
violent ones . They were very impressed when we 
firs t arrived in prison and get sev en and a half 
years . 

They can't understand this and also that 
you ' re not at all ashamed. They found it very odd . 
They would keep on saying ' Hy is a vare gentleman.• 
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Rcont: He is a gent. that guy. Cos I m all respect-
able qnd all that . They can't understafid why I rockel 
up there. 

J 

Q: But this was the politicals •••• (?261) 

!=After I was convicted I was alsov-' ith these guys a 
bit-they kept me in solitary after I was, convicted 
a bit . But I'll tell you about t~at just now . 

_: I guess I want to make sure that I get what the 
whites have to do . What did you expect to· see in the 

courtroom?. It must have been really important to . 
see the supporters . Had you h.1.C. any visitors during 
the five months? 

R: Yeah, while I was awaiting triall 1 always had 
lots of visits. I had used up all my visits and let~rs 
every day . I had quite a lot of friends in Durban, 
but my family would come do\vn as well. 

People in Durban organised to send me food aro 
they came in every day. Or whatever with visits. 
I don't remember how many visits you could have - I 
think two a week or one a day, I can't remember. 

Anyway, so when I arrived in court, ther~ 
were people there . 

Q: And (?275) 

Rm On. the final d8.y, they were, auite .upset , : you ·see , 
I think_ t hey 1were upset when I talked in court and I 
think the way they run the show, the woy court cases 
are depicted - on the one hand, you ~ve rot the 
state trying to presnet an ideolo'gica.l picture of 
someone who deserves to be sent to jail, who's done 
these terrible deeds etc , etc . 

And when you w~tch this being unfolded, it 
doesn't actually correspond to the vmy you understand 
what you've done . 

Although 1 was admitting that I had· done 
various thing~, the way the court case actually depict­
ed it - ~ 've actually written on these thines in that 
South African Review article - it a ctually depicts 
1t in a w2y that demerit~ it of all social content . 

So it bec~Me a technical matter . It wns 
helluva boring this court cese - reslly I was like 
falling a leep most of the time . 

So, it's only when you do get a chance to 
hove your ovm say , th~t you sort of set back - I 
don't know what you call it -the force~ of evi1 ! 
but you set be er o"lce ~ .... '"'in and affirm the correct- · 
ness of what you've done and set a new , and you 
contest the terrain. • 
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Rcont: And you contest the terrain saying No, I'm 
not prepared to accept this, that and the other. 

I was getting a bit upset about thit obviously. 
And that was I think a daw or two before was 
sentenced. I was found guilty and then on the day 
of sentencingJ I seemed very upset and I didn•t 
understand why. And then when I rocked up there , 
Winnie Mandela was there, wearing green gold and 
black you know. I didn•t expect her there, but I 
thought it was very nice . 

S: '76 was this~ 

R: November '75. 

g: So she was still living in Sowetd! 

. I 

R: She ' d just been unbanned for a while. (Yes) Tbre 
hadn't been political trials for a long time. And 
I wasn't quite sure whether to stick ·my fist up and 
I wasn•t sure how people would react . And when I 
stuck my fist up they all immediately stuck their 
fists up . It was a mmdnly black crowd and I believe 
· when I was downstairs, they were all singing ~kosi 
Sikelele Africa, and my mother told me the Judges 
~egistrar was in tears . 

So, it was an unusual case , because people 
I know hadn't seen a case for a long time and they 
were a bit shocked that I should say I was correct 
and that my career should be wasted as they thought 
it was. 

Q: And there hadn't been any black trials recently 
'before that'? 

R: Not so many. 

Q: When you saw Winnie Mande~a, did she say anything 
to you? 

R: ~es . I can't remember something like hello , how 
are you?l . I was telling about Nelson mainly and I 
was shouting across the dock you know and basically 
l don't think we understood what one another was 
saying , with the distance between us and the number 
of police between us: 

S: I think there 's a quote of what she said to you 
in the book I read. 

R: I have seen it. I don't know if that's what she 
said to me, but It was in the newspapers - I've got 
cuttings of the trial. 
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§ : Do you want to say much, about the trial itself-? 

g: Basicall y very boring . The thing with these cases 
is they pr oduce every typewriter and every piece of 
paper and l •d already admitted half the stuff. 

Basically they wanted to give the impression af 
this terrible communist who'd done a~l these things . 
And one of the newspapers had a photograph - I can 
show you tne cutting actually , it's ·quite interest­
ing . They were making out that I was a very attract­
ive personality, always smiling and this , so the 
impression they were trying to giv e is that I was 
underneath this deep criminal , sort of this psycho­
pathic personality . 

, So , the image of the apparently nice guy , 
along with these lots of boxes and pamphlets and 
equipment was meant to imply that this is how devious 
these types are and that while appearing to be so 
they used a word 'innemindeglimlage ' meaning engaging 
smile or something like that . and it was actually 
to entice people into these nefarious activities . 

So they go through all these boring activities 
to ~rove that sort of you know. I was falling asleep 
except that they produced various things . ~ike they 
S~chaba with sort of quotes from our magazines 
--nd I was ' very interested in that and I wanted to 
see my own· copy. l!'or my defence r said, and they 
wanted to play excerpts of Freedom Radio but the 
defence lawyers objected. But l. we.s very happy 
about this I would like to have heard mt . But 
they thought it would prejudice my case yo~ see. 

As interest goes I thought it was helluva 
boring • 

. s: Vfuo were your lawyers? 

R: George Bizos and Raymond Tucker. 

( : Is there anything to say about the triHl in terms of you being white? 

· R: I don't know. I think I was given ouite good 
attention by the press . I thought the press treated 
me re~sonably well . The jud~e, I think the judge 
said + was disgusting especiqJly to entice this 
young-~oman - it was shocking: Judging from the 
judgement, they sort of implied that this person 
had recently had a romantic involvement and some -

. one like me took advantaee of this , to entice her 
into my - he used the word nefarious - activities • 
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Q: And how would you· say - I read the thine you wro~ 
a bout in the South Africrm Review - that whe.t the Stcte ' s 
trying to do with the white tricls as opposed to a 
black triaJ .• 
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R: I don•t know. I don't think that's necessarily 
Why. I think that they had other reasons. There's 
a commission that was amended abolishing a State Wit­
ness from the dock, for other reasons. I don't know 
whether it had anything to do with statements which 
people made. L'm not sure . 

g: O.K. So the trial - I was interested in your 
situation with whites and also because you obviously 

with your whole legal background, did you feel you 
got anymore insights int~he role of the judiciary 
through your detention? 

!= Yes. But I must say first of all, I got a lot of 
support in certain sections of the university aca­
demic sector. Law sector - there was a lot of ant­
agonism amon8st certain people. I don't know 
exactly why , but there was a lot of very heavy att­
itudes . You know, although I generally had a lot 
of support, l didn't get it from a lot of these 
sectors . 

As regards stud~nts , they were very support­
ive. Young people in general. 

As regards insight into the judiciary, the 
sort of thing I'm writing now, is partly as a result 
of seeing from th~ other side the way a trial is 
depicted. I didn t recognise myself as the way it 
was depicted. l !ook at the way a trial is construct­
ed, as a reconstruction of an historical event , a 
series of events - now they actually only consider 
certain things.·significant. The result is that 
what the accused considers most siggificant seems to 
get very little showing often. And + was aware of 
that, but l didn't write on it for a lone time , 
because t wasn•t -studying lawl in prison until near 
the end. And basically it was only when I was allow­
ed to register at Unisa for a doctorate in law -
you had to do too many theses - the one is this 
thing that I'm going to publish on the judiciary. 

I started to do quite a lot of work on i~. 
It's supposed to be twenty five pages and it w~s 
ninety nine pages double spa cing. l did auite a 
lot of work but it was ideas that I had been think­
ing of before 1 went to jail but I think that that 
experience help•d to crystallise some things . 

Q: And is that experience one that whites wouldn 't 
even be able to understand that aspect of apartheid 
society except for ' being in that position? 

R: I wouldn ' t say so . No I think there are a lot of 
things yo ~ can begin to understand without experienceing 
tnem . I think that prison is somethine for a white ~ 
go into i f h e or she wants to understand what it ' s 
like to undergo privations every day like bl2cks do • 

••• /2Q • . • 464 



• • . / 29 • •• 464 R Suttner. 

R: But trials is something else you know. 

0 : At the trial there were iots of blacks in the court. 
Were they blacks you knew or were they just there 
because of'wht you represented? ' 

R: Some of ·them I lmew, but· most I didn ~ t 
-ver--J wenn. 

They were 

,. 
0: So that must have been real ly interesting . 

R: No , it VJ!">S v~ry nice . I saw the last C OflY of the 
d ctily ne ... s , 90 I could see the heodlines and .L reali sed 
they had eung in court so .L h2d some idea. And it 
was something that kept me going for a while . Cos 
they kept me in solitary for t hree and a half months 
after that . I t wps quite i portant as that memory . 

g: And when WGS this July 1 76. 
you were in solitary for three 
put you into Pretoria Centr2l . 
important to get in with those 

So after the trial, 
months and then they 

So was th2t finally 
gU.ys . r 

R:YeBh ; I t was te~rible in solitary. Because I 
~~s expecting to fO straieht to the others and they 
interrogated me some more • 

. 9_ : Why? 

'q : Well , they thou('".,ht .L knew Pb.out J eremy and David 
~nd other groupmnes and so they kept me there . You 
get ouite a fright . Suddently you find sixteen of 
these guys rock up to puestion you and well I just 
vycsn ·~t sure wh'1t would happen - whether I would get 
beoten up or v.,rh3t . .And they still kept me t here 
after th~t for another three and a h~lf months . 

It was nice bein£ put with the others . 

Q: Who wr1s theee? 

R,j Dave Ki tsen , Dennis Gold he.,... , ..A..lex 'M b2res , !ll:JritA.!" 
(~{> em , Shaun· Poco'y, John m~ ~ ews , Tomms , - Raymond 
To s - I didn ' t actually co ·r u:nic~te v:·i th him, 
bec~u~e he .had been ~ st~te Witness , in the case 
ag8.inst Harold Strechen. 

I m t~inr to think who else • . Th8t $~ s all 
fit the beginning. but do you wrnt to lmow who wcs 
there durinr; my whole :9~riod or? 

Then Jeremy Cronin , David ~ ~, n, Tim 
Jenkin~, Stephen Le~ •• 

Q: W}l~t were they t wo bust for? 
.. 

R: Same things as me . 

S: Doing pamphlets . 

R: They were very effective , becaus e J enkins h ad had 
v ery high level training in that sort of stuff . He 
wes very good with his hands . He could produce v ery 
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Rcont: He could produce very effectively. 
Then there was Renfrew Christie and Guy Berger 

I'm trying to think who else . And I didn't see Rob 
Adam though he was there at t h e same t i me as me , but 
in a different part.And well there's others there now. 

£ : Who else is in now since (? •• 518) 

R: Guy Gerrard and Carne House (?) and what's this . 
guy s name. Hannekom, Roland Hunter . 

Q: So , it wa s a pretty small gro~p . 

R: It's always pretty sma.ll. The maximum which we 
had was ten. 

Q: Were you welcomed right in or was \t kind of high 
Initially? 

R: Yes, it was terrific. I hadn't s poken to anyone 
!or months , so it was very nice. And it was a very 
supportive comrrunity. One has problems becau se 
we ' re in such close contact. But if anyone is atta ck­
ed or h 8 s a difficu~ time with the authorities ; we 
all stand together . 

It wa.s very moving i n . t hat respect. · But it 
was difficult , becau s e why you 're actual l y quite 
enjoy being alone j.n y our cel l at night , be cause 
it' s quite t ense hPv i n g su ch a small gr oup. But 
I l earnt a lot i n t he experience . 

C: And t h i s i s a diffLcu1t au est ion , but what do 
you t hink got you t h r ough· you r t ime i n prisoij.? 
Was i t t hat comradie with the others? · 

R: Pr i son is uot so diffi cult if you are a political 
prisoner . Becaus e in the f i r ;t place you go in 
there with your head held l': i [,l - you ' re completely 
proud of what you ' ve done . .tmd if you remember th.Pt 
all along and don ' t foreet th.<01t) ~ ) -osy chologic?lly , 
you start off v ery well . Seco dly , your j ob in 
prison is to come out a better person, bett er abl e 
to play a r ole in the struggle and I think it ' s 
import::mt not to waste your time in prison and to · 
come out feeling thc.t you.'ve grown. I feel I grew 
mora~ly and intellectu2lly qnd my politi cal under­
standing i s better. And , some people come i n ~nd 
t hey feel very sorry for themselves as if they re t he 
only J:leople who 've ever been i ;n pri s on. 

w And it wosn ' t very diffi cult because of I 
used ev ery moment - trere w s too little time in pris on 
as f ..., r as I ' m conc_ernec . I worked ha.rd , ther e Wf' S a 
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Rcont: I worked h ord , t here was a. lot of di$cussicm, 
I unders t and .,. lot of thi i'"J.g::fnuch better . And morally , 
it ' s very difficul t and out of moral dif 'icult sit­
u ati on s , you_ can either collapse or you grov . 

And l. t h ink t h2.t Lost peonl e gro·w in t 1em. 
P.nd i t w2sn ' t a L~f!ily pr oblem. Re8l ly he ..... vy a t time~ 
but on the wholc~o problems . 

~ : And W?S t her e any one of t he ' ~ite poli ti cel 
prisoners who W!1S more of f' mentor , . who you loo.ked to 
i n t er ms of theoreti cal lmowledee or .. . . ? 

R: We t ended to work col lectively ond l eo.rn a. l ot 
fr om one another . 

C: Did you compare notes wi th other politjc~ prison­
i rs? I~ t her reoll y a bond between t eople? Like 
Hueh Lev.'in ' s book? 

t 

R: No , I re::>d rru.._,h .... (''' -i.n s book b~fore . It w.,r very 
useful to r e.., CI . I "· ,... gfee v.'i th ·some of t he T'lOSi t ions 
he takes in ~+ tiv!L - I ,.,ct unlly vrrote something 
criti cising one of the ch~rEes 2g~inst me . I t• s ~ 
bit defe~tist in my opini on , the openine.~rt of it . 
But the book itself is v ery EOOd • 

C: Vfuat , thot he doecn •t hove o better ~ttitude about 
wh..,t detention c~ do? 

' R: No , I think once .UeftWiC.~ Eives evidence ae<:<inst · 
him, he feels betr~yed n" I c~ ' t remember the story. 

As f'2 as I ' m concerned , even if ~n individu·~l 
betr~ys you there ' s sor~+ · n~ becger thqn the individ­
U"'l involved. .And l. C'" ' t J;'emerber tl .. e eround'"' but 
·it seems f.- tnli""tic ax~J it s .., very f"OOd boolt . I •ve 
no problems - I ' d li~e to Mfet him. I hope I ~eet 
him sometime . 

• TT~\ (" ' n / '1 w· i. " n her p0li tic~}. 
prisoners? Black political prisoners? 

!!;: Yes, a lot . 

Q: What is that like? 
-thing'; 

Again I'm into my black/white 

R: I think that it's easier in some ways for them. 
!n the beginning bmth white and black prisoners 
before I got to jail had a very heavy time , especially 

. on the island. I mean many of them were treated 
badly it sounds . · 

But I think a small gr?P.P is much more diff­
icult . It •s much more difficu~l to smuggle. We 
didn't have newspapers for years we di'dn•t have . 
radios for years. And we h~d to'smugg e all these th1ngs • 
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Rcont: Well we did with radios . But they smuggled 
easily. They hqd a great time in that regard . 

Also we didn't b;:.ve a lot of senior people and 
the consequence is that the extent to which you can 
~am is less in a community like ours was . And also 
the degree of authority that some people can have 
if you ' ve got about twenty people there who are really 
top people-. · · - , · 

But also , the degree af tensions at a perso~ 
al level is less there than it would be in our group. 

Q: And the question I asked about the differences you 
' put in between your era of political prisoners and 

the new whites who came and there was the Goldberg/ 
Kitson • •• • 

R: The differences were interesting in the sense. 
o f people's - these guys went to jail in 1953- 64 . 

The consequences were that there was a big 
cultural gap in -the things that we experienced . I 
think th~re was also , people like J eremy Cronin, 
David Rabkin must have had a very similar type of 
background a¥ademically . 

That·s the one thing. vn the other hand , 
we grew up in a different period . The things we 
knew the friends we had , these people didn~t have . 

There was a sort of cultural barrier and the 
age barrier was a ~roblem. 

It · als·o affected. one ' s attitudes to diff­
erent things-. There might be different attitudes 
to women Say and so on a political level also -
for years there were political discussions going 
on arguing about certain things . 

There wasn't always cohesion. Eventually 
there was mo_e cohesion . mne position became 
more dominant than another. But I mean , there was 
a lot of room for discussions and differences . 

Q: Did you feel that someone like Renfrew Christie 
represented a whole different era? 

I 

R: I don t think he was specifically recruited and . 
' therefore under an organis ~tion ' s discipline . 
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